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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Good morning. You

          3  know, it's summer and some of our members are late

          4  coming and may not show at all because they have

          5  other commitments.

          6                 Council Member Golden is coming in

          7  now. Welcome, this morning.

          8                 My name is Wendell Foster, Chairman

          9  of the Committee on Parks, Recreation, Cultural

         10  Affairs and International Intergroup Relations.

         11                 The agenda for today's hearing for

         12  the Committee on Parks, Recreation, Cultural Affairs

         13  and International Intergroup Relations introduced

         14  three proposed local laws, naming two streets and a

         15  plaza in honor of three New Yorkers who made

         16  significant contributions to our great City.

         17                 Intro. No. 622, by Council Member

         18  Quinn, also Council Member O'Donovan, in relation to

         19  a corner name, John Bigelow Plaza, Borough of

         20  Manhattan.

         21                 Intro. No. 691, by Council Members

         22  Lasher, Nelson and Abel; also Council Members

         23  O'Donovan and Fisher, in relation to a street name,

         24  Eugene R. Romano Lane, Borough of Brooklyn.

         25                 Intro. No. 912, by Council Member
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          2  Golden; also Council Members Fisher, O'Donovan,

          3  Abel, in relation to a street name, Dyker Heights

          4  Boulevard, Brooklyn.

          5                 Intro. No. 884, in relation to John

          6  Lindsay Park, has been deferred by request of the

          7  sponsor.

          8                 I'm happy today we are going to

          9  consider Intro. 622, John Bigelow Plaza, because of

         10  the dedication of John Bigelow in the establishment

         11  of the New York Public Library. The many thousands

         12  of books, and other materials, that are available to

         13  all New Yorkers to enjoy and from which to learn at

         14  the New York Public Library are part of the rich

         15  educational and cultural life of our City. It is,

         16  therefore, particularly appropriate that the corner

         17  of 41st Street and Fifth Avenue, at the main branch

         18  of the Library be named John Bigelow Plaza.

         19                 I do this also because a former

         20  colleague, whom I admire a great deal, will stop

         21  beating up on me after I get this passed. Don't be

         22  fooled by that mild demeanor, when Mr. Andrew

         23  Eristoff wants something, he is as tenacious as a

         24  pit bull, and every time I would see him he would

         25  remind me that I didn't do it.
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          2                 So, would you please help me to

          3  welcome to the witness stand our Finance person, the

          4  man that has a knack of getting things done his way,

          5  former Councilman Andrew Eristoff, and please, after

          6  he's finished testifying, would you join me in

          7  saying to him I did call the hearing?

          8                 Is anyone else desirous? Mr. John

          9  Taylor.

         10                 Anyone else? Anyone else desirous of

         11  being heard? Just fill out a card so we can put it

         12  on the record, please.

         13                 MR. ERISTOFF: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chairman. Thank you for that extremely generous and

         15  kind welcome, it's always a pleasure to join you and

         16  the other members of the Committee, and the esteemed

         17  staff of the Council back in these hallowed

         18  environs.

         19                 I miss certain aspects of my former

         20  life as a colleague of yours and this is certainly

         21  one of them.

         22                 I want to express at the outset my

         23  appreciation to you, Mr. Chairman, for holding a

         24  hearing on this measure, and also my appreciation to

         25  Council Member Quinn for having kept the faith over
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          2  the last couple of years, for having introduced the

          3  measure, I certainly appreciate what she has done.

          4                 With me today, to my left is John

          5  Bigelow Taylor, who will offer some testimony and

          6  support of the legislation, and on my right is Ann

          7  Eristoff, who will also say a few words, if she

          8  wishes, otherwise she will stand moot but in support

          9  of the measure before you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: May I just say,

         11  it's your time now to tell her when to talk, right?

         12  Previously she would tell you, right?

         13                 MR. ERISTOFF: So, with that, let me

         14  turn it over to John Bigelow Taylor.

         15                 MR. TAYLOR: I thank you for giving me

         16  the opportunity to testify on behalf of this project

         17  which means a great deal to me, and I think to our

         18  whole family.

         19                 I wrote a little piece here which

         20  I'll read some of, but there's, in what you handed

         21  out there is a biography of John Bigelow, which I

         22  think is fairly concise and to the point.

         23                 When citizens, or visitors, look up

         24  at the new street sign at 41st and Fifth Avenue --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Mr. Taylor, it's
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          2  so well written, why don't you just read the whole

          3  thing.

          4                 MR. TAYLOR: Okay, thank you.

          5                 When citizens, or visitors, look up

          6  at the new street sign at 41st and Fifth Avenue,

          7  many will undoubtedly ask: "Who was John Bigelow?"

          8  Indeed Margaret Clapp's biography of John Bigelow -

          9  my Great-Great Grandfather - was entitled "Forgotten

         10  First Citizen." My Grandmother hated that title. She

         11  was raised by John Bigelow and she in turn did much

         12  to raise me. So I heard many stories and much praise

         13  about my Great-Great Grandfather. My Grandmother was

         14  appalled that Bigelow could ever be "Forgotten."

         15                 John Bigelow was born in 1817, when

         16  James Monroe was President of a farmer republic

         17  sprawled along the Atlantic and westward -- oh, I

         18  should mention, this is from the biography. It's not

         19  my writing -- westward into portions of the

         20  Mississippi Valley. Ninety years later, in the

         21  close-knit industrial nation of President Taft's

         22  days, John Bigelow was still alive - and not merely

         23  alive, but actively engaged in public life.

         24                 In the 1840's, the distant time when

         25  the city first brought running water to its better
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          2  homes and turned to horse-drawn buses to solve the

          3  transportation problem, young John Bigelow, then in

          4  his 20's, had helped to reform the worst of the

          5  state's prisons.

          6                 In the 1850's he had helped create

          7  the Republican Party. In 1861, having put the

          8  Evening Post on a paying basis, he had retired from

          9  business, not wealthy but with enough, to the study

         10  and writing which he loved, only to be called into

         11  the service of this country throughout the Civil

         12  War.

         13                 As consul to Paris, then Minister to

         14  France, he did more than any other man to ward off

         15  the dreaded French intervention on behalf of the

         16  Confederacy; and in the doing showed a breadth of

         17  vision, a sense of timing, and a capacity for

         18  practical action. The six momentous years in France

         19  were followed by seven years of private life as

         20  writer and editor in America and Germany.

         21                 Then he returned to politics to help

         22  Governor Tilden crush the Canal Ring and to assist

         23  in the presidential campaign of 1876. For 35 years

         24  thereafter, an elder statesman who never lost faith

         25  in the slow unfolding of democracy, he aided with
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          2  kindly counsel the stream of inquirers who sought

          3  him out, public leaders and young nobodies alike;

          4  and at the same time he labored at far-reaching

          5  projects - one of them the creation of the New York

          6  Public Library, another, the Panama Canal. (In his

          7  home, in his eighty-seventh year, he watched the

          8  sewing of the first flag of the Republic of Panama,

          9  some weeks before that republic was born.)

         10                 Moreover, throughout the active

         11  years, he never ceased participation in current

         12  debate of social and political issues, through

         13  articles, editorials, books.

         14                 It is not strange then, that a list

         15  of John Bigelow's friends should be a roll call of

         16  the leaders of his time, American, British and

         17  European. Nor is it strange, though it is

         18  impressive, that the tributes to his memory after

         19  his death in 1911 dwelt less upon specific

         20  achievements - there were so many of them - than

         21  upon the character of the man himself. Joseph Choate

         22  stressed his "unfailing public spirit...he was

         23  always alive to every public question, and his

         24  unpaid services to his countrymen, in studying them

         25  and expounding them, were quite as valuable as if he
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          2  had spent the last 40 years of his life in some

          3  great office or in making more money."

          4                 William Milligan Sloane, the

          5  historian, before the American Institute of Arts and

          6  Letters to which Bigelow had belonged, emphasized

          7  his "genius alike for leadership and co-operation."

          8                 Perhaps the feeling of those who knew

          9  him best was summed up by Henry van Dyke before the

         10  Century Association, which had chosen Bigelow as

         11  president for the preceding six years, when he said:

         12  "He was a human fountain of sanely directed energy.

         13  He loved to be in the thick of things... But at the

         14  same time he was a follower of the contemplative

         15  life... He was, in fact, a common-sense mystic. ...

         16  He belonged to the double tribe of Joseph, both

         17  dreamers and doers, man of the type of Milton,

         18  Lincoln and Pasteur, who are better citizens on

         19  earth because they hold fast to their citizenship in

         20  Heaven." Shrewdly practical, and an intellectual;

         21  worldly, yet with other-worldly interests; a natural

         22  aristocrat who believed in democracy - such a man

         23  was John Bigelow.

         24                 It is wonderful to think that, with

         25  this naming of the plaza in front of the Public
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          2  Library, John Bigelow will now be a little less

          3  "Forgotten".

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I wanted you to

          5  read that, thank you for reading it, because I think

          6  it's well written.

          7                 Most people think of the Public

          8  Library System and identify it with Andrew Carnegie.

          9  They have forgotten, or never knew, that before

         10  Carnegie there was someone to start the whole

         11  system.

         12                 Before I hear from Mrs. Eristoff and

         13  Andrew, libraries have always held a fascination for

         14  me. I've been able to visit the great Library of

         15  Alexandra several times, the great Library to

         16  Timbuctu, it's amazing these so-called third-world

         17  nations had outstanding libraries before we thought

         18  of having libraries in this country, and here the

         19  man that made it possible was forgotten. And I want

         20  to thank you personally for helping us to remember

         21  it.

         22                 And Mrs. Eristoff, I want to thank

         23  you for Andrew --

         24                 MR. ERISTOFF: My aunt.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Your aunt, oh.
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          2  Well, they look alike. You had something to do with

          3  it.

          4                 Andrew would never let me forget that

          5  this was important to bring this before this

          6  Committee.

          7                 MR. ERISTOFF: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And now we'll

          9  hear from Andrew and then from you.

         10                 MR. ERISTOFF: Well, I would like to

         11  just say a few words, at the risk of trying the

         12  patience of the Chair and the Committee members.

         13                 Mr. Taylor has given you I think a

         14  very broad and good overview of John Bigelow's

         15  contribution. I would like to just note that Mr.

         16  Bigelow was widely known as the grand old man of

         17  America at the time of his death at some 93 or 94 in

         18  1911, but what made him extraordinary was, as a New

         19  Yorker, was that he was an active, if not central,

         20  figure with respect to a remarkable range of

         21  international, national and civic issues and causes

         22  of his day. This man literally touched on almost

         23  everything that happened in the 90 odd years that he

         24  was on this earth.

         25                 As was mentioned earlier, he was a
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          2  crusading Sing Sing prison inspector, appointed by

          3  the Governor to root out corruption, and

          4  ill-treatment of prisoners. He was editor of the New

          5  York Times for a period. He was editor and part

          6  owner of the New York Evening Post, with William

          7  Cullen Bryant. In that capacity he was a crusading

          8  abolitionist editorial writer.

          9                 As a free soil democrat, he soon

         10  became one of the early organizers of the new

         11  Anti-Slavery Party, the Republican Party, in the

         12  early 1850s, about 1854.  Later he became a Democrat

         13  again when he was turned off by the corruption of

         14  the Grant Administration, but that's a footnote. I

         15  brought the family back into the fold a little bit

         16  later.

         17                 He was United States Consul to Paris,

         18  and Minister to France. Essentially he was detailed

         19  to prevent the French from coming in on the

         20  Confederate side in that war, and did a lot to

         21  undermine various ship-building efforts that the

         22  Confederates had engaged in in France at that time.

         23                 Later, after the Civil War, people

         24  don't realize it now but there was a major, major

         25  international issue when the new Emperor of France,
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          2  Maximillian -- actually, sorry. Maximillian of

          3  France was made Emperor of Mexico and there was some

          4  major concern that that would precipitate a war with

          5  the United States, and Bigelow was instrumental in

          6  heading off an international problem at that time.

          7                 Later, he was chairman of the Canal

          8  Investigating Committee, where he broke the Canal

          9  Ring, and then he was elected Secretary of State of

         10  the State of New York at the time when it was an

         11  elective office, within the Administration of Samuel

         12  Tilden. He was Executor and Trustee of the Tilden

         13  Estate, and in that capacity he became the first

         14  president of the New York Public Library when they

         15  merged the Lenox Libraries, the Astra Library and

         16  the Tilden Trust.

         17                 He was first president of the New

         18  York Law School. He was an elected delegate to the

         19  New York State Constitutional Convention of I think

         20  1898. He was a member of the Art Commission of the

         21  City of New York and president of the Century

         22  Association, among other things.

         23                 He also wrote and edited dozens of

         24  books and manuscripts, including major biographies

         25  of William Cullen Bryant and Samuel Tilden, as well
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          2  as the definitive autobiography of Benjamin Franklin

          3  and no less than 12 volumes or something like that.

          4  I have not undertaken that particular quest yet.

          5                 So, with that, let me just state

          6  again that I am deeply grateful to you, Mr.

          7  Chairman, and to Council Member Quinn for bringing

          8  this forward.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Eristoff.

         11                 Could you give us a copy of your

         12  testimony?

         13                 MR. ERISTOFF: Certainly.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: It's quite

         15  interesting.

         16                 MR. ERISTOFF: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Being a history

         18  buff, I'd like to know what happened before I got

         19  here.

         20                 Speaking of history, when my wife was

         21  a Latin and French teacher in her native country,

         22  she had a student who is well renown now but he

         23  refused to take history. He said what happened

         24  before his birth had nothing to do with him. He had

         25  no right to read about other folks private lives.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  I'm just the opposite. I like to hear what's

          3  happened before.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 MR. ERISTOFF: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Mrs. Eristoff,

          7  would you like to say something? And forgive me for

          8  confusing you with the other one.

          9                 MRS. ERISTOFF: That's all right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I know were she

         11  here, she'd be talking about the Museum.

         12                 MRS. ERISTOFF: That's right.

         13                 I just want to add a very, a couple

         14  little footnotes, I think my nephew and my cousin

         15  have covered the field.

         16                 I was reading some of the obituaries

         17  in 1911 of my Great Grandfather John Bigelow, and I

         18  noted that it was Seth Lowe at one point, at that

         19  point actually, head of Columbia University, who

         20  first called him "New York's First Citizen" at that

         21  time, but Bigelow's, one of Bigelow's main

         22  interests, and it's fascinating that these interests

         23  were, in terms of the local New York City world,

         24  were all pursued when he was in his seventies,

         25  eighties, and nineties, not that he was not
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          2  interested in the New York City area before that,

          3  but his interests were broader.

          4                 And it was during those later years

          5  that he developed this intense interest in education

          6  and pedagogical interests of all kinds of problems,

          7  and felt that the public library and a public

          8  library was such an essential portion of education

          9  needed for citizens in a democracy.

         10                 He also was ahead of his time. His

         11  interest in education involved an intense interest

         12  in developing schools for African-Americans. He was

         13  the president of the Board of Trustees of Calhoun

         14  School in Alabama. He was a great supporter and

         15  fundraiser for Hampton Institute in Virginia.

         16                 He believed in education, and he

         17  believed in the vote for women, and wrote about it

         18  extensively long before it was a very popular

         19  accepted idea.

         20                 And other thing he did, that sort of

         21  fits in with his current effort to honor him by

         22  putting his name on the plaza or place out here, is

         23  in his later years, again, in his eighties or

         24  nineties, he was a member of the New York Commission

         25  for the Arts, I believe it was called, and between
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          2  the ages of 82 to 94 he persuaded public figures at

          3  that time to make Bryant Park, change the name to

          4  Bryant Park, to honor his great co-editor, and he

          5  was interested in having public places in the City

          6  bear some evidence of those who had given public

          7  service to the City in the past, whether it was by

          8  monument or naming. Not that he was thinking of

          9  getting himself named anywhere, but he was extremely

         10  concerned that the record and history of those who

         11  had been public servants to their City or country be

         12  recognized and maintained to the benefit of as

         13  current citizens.

         14                 So, on behalf of the family, as my

         15  relatives have said, we're extremely honored that

         16  there's a move to bring his name back.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'm honored that

         19  you three came to share this history with us.

         20                 Either one of you, or all three of

         21  you, can respond to this:

         22                 What one thing motivated him to think

         23  about starting a public library?

         24                 I imagine it was a number of things,

         25  but was there any one decisive factor in his life?
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          2                 MRS. ERISTOFF: I believe it was the

          3  wish of Tilden. He was an Executor, with some

          4  others, with Alexander Greene, who was another great

          5  public figure in New York at that time, he was

          6  Executor of Tilden's will, and I believe, you can

          7  correct me if I'm wrong, that one of Tilden's wishes

          8  was the merger of his assets and the Lenox and Astor

          9  Foundations in the creation of a public library. So,

         10  Bigelow was interested himself in public education,

         11  and the necessity of having free public education

         12  and libraries available to the public, but the

         13  particular public library was, I believe, the

         14  creation, the inspiration of Mr. Tilden; is that

         15  correct?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         17                 MR. TAYLOR: Also, I think that from

         18  what I was told, books were really the foundation of

         19  his life. He was extremely well read, spoke several

         20  languages, I would imagine, and many of his private

         21  books have passed down to all of us, that were

         22  treasured by him. And I'm sure that having a

         23  repository that the public could go to and be able

         24  to take a wonderful volume off the shelf was

         25  extremely important to him.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            20

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Andrew.

          3                 MR. ERISTOFF: Yes, I don't know the

          4  particulars of the creation of the New York Public

          5  Library, as well as I ought to, but my recollection

          6  is that he was charged through the will with the

          7  idea of advancing the idea of a consolidated

          8  library.

          9                 It took an awful lot of doing. As I

         10  recall, there used to be a reservoir where the

         11  current public library sits, and, so, you had to

         12  convince an awful lot of hymn and haw types that

         13  this was worth doing and worth situating there. And

         14  as you know, everything was kind of complicated in

         15  those days, given the municipal, shall we say the

         16  intricacies of public policy in New York City in the

         17  early 20th century. So, he was able to navigate

         18  that, and pull it all together and preside over the

         19  cornerstone laying and then later, as it was built,

         20  and he died shortly thereafter, but he was there.

         21                 It's interesting that he was one of

         22  the two or three speakers (operator turned off the

         23  recording machine.) --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Obviously this

         25  is truly a hero.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I think they

          3  turned the machine off just when you spoke.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: He's obviously

          5  a true hero this man, and should have been honored

          6  many, many years ago.

          7                 And what I don't see is my name on

          8  this bill, and hopefully I will get my name on this

          9  bill, because I think it's an important bill.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 Any other Council member? Thank you.

         14                 All of this you said, I know it's

         15  recorded, but if I could get some of this in print,

         16  I would like to pass it out to our members, because,

         17  Andrew, you have been down here, you know in the

         18  summertime that it's vacation, but we should expose

         19  this to our people. In fact, we ought do some

         20  pamphlets for the Public Library System so they'll

         21  know.

         22                 MR. ERISTOFF: Yes, his papers are at

         23  the Public Library.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Pardon me?

         25                 MR. ERISTOFF: His papers are at the
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          2  Public Library.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I can understand

          4  that, but I'm talking about in a way that these

          5  small children, you know you could take it to a

          6  grade school for them to see.

          7                 Most adults are not going to take

          8  time to read these public papers. You will, and I

          9  will because you told me about it. You started, the

         10  expression you used on the street "bugging" me about

         11  this, I had never heard of the man.

         12                 MR. ERISTOFF: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And then when you

         14  kept talking about it I decided I would read up and

         15  find what is so great about this man that Andrew

         16  must call me on the telephone or when I see him, and

         17  I discovered he really made a great contribution.

         18                 The thing that amazes me, one of the

         19  things, is that he was so active and lived so long.

         20  Maybe that's why he lived to such a ripe age,

         21  because he was so active in so many things.

         22                 Thank you all for coming. And I'm

         23  sure that when we get our quorum, you won't have to

         24  come back.

         25                 MR. ERISTOFF: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: But if we could

          3  get something, I would appreciate it, so I could

          4  pass it out for the whole Council.

          5                 Thank you for coming.

          6                 (The following written testimony was

          7  read into the record.)

          8

          9  John Bigelow, 1817-1911. Lawyer, Statesman, Editor,

         10  and Author

         11                 Widely known as the "Grand Old Man of

         12  America" at the time of his death in 1911, John

         13  Bigelow was an extraordinary New Yorker and an

         14  active, if not central, figure with respect to a

         15  remarkable range of international, national, and

         16  civic issues and causes of his day.

         17                 Biographical Highlights.

         18                 Appointed Sing Sing prison inspector,

         19  1840s.

         20                 Editor, New York Times.

         21                 Editor, and part owner with W. L.

         22  Bryant, New York Evening Post, 1849-1861.

         23                 Abolitionist Editorial Writer.

         24                 A Free-Soil Democrat, was early

         25  organizer of the new anti-slavery Republican Party.
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          2                 United States Consul to Paris,

          3  1861-1864.

          4                 United States Minister to France,

          5  1864-1867 (Civil War; Maximillian in Mexico).

          6                 Chairman of Canal Investigating

          7  Committee appointed by Gov. Samuel L. Tilden.

          8                 Campaign Manager for Tilden's

          9  Presidential Campaign.

         10                 Elected Secretary of State of the

         11  State of New York, 1876-1878.

         12                 Executor and Trustee of Tilden

         13  Estate.

         14                 First President, New York Public

         15  Library.

         16                 First President, New York Law School.

         17                 Elected Delegate, New York State

         18  Constitutional Convention of 1898.

         19                 Member, Art Commissioner of the City

         20  of New York.

         21                 President, the Century Association.

         22                 Other.

         23                 Wrote and/or edited dozens of books,

         24  including major biographies of William C. Bryant and

         25  Samuel Tilden, as well as the definitive
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          2  autobiography of Benjamin Franklin.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:

          4                 We have been joined by Council Member

          5  Golden and Council Member Provenzano. Their vacation

          6  tickets did not come yet, so they are still here

          7  with me.

          8                 691 is Mr. Lasher, and that is a

          9  street name, Eugene R. Romano Lane, Borough of

         10  Brooklyn. And we have here Stewart Diamond,

         11  Legislative Counsel. And for Mr. Lasher, Mary Anne

         12  Cino.  All right, Ms. Cino, would you come, please.

         13                 Florence Christino. You have some

         14  fancy writing.

         15                 Okay, thank you.

         16                 Joseph G. Troisimo, is that it?

         17                 DR. TROISI: Troisi.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Troisi, thank

         19  you.

         20                 All right, and we have some more

         21  chairs. And Gena Romano, and later Mr. Epstein. Mr.

         22  Epstein, is he here?

         23                 All right, thank you.

         24                 And Larry Murrish. All right, thank

         25  you.
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          2                 If all of you will just sit over

          3  here.

          4                 Can we have another chair there,

          5  please? Or a couple more chairs, Sergeant?

          6                 Any written testimony, you will let

          7  us have it, please. And I want to thank you all for

          8  coming on this vacation day.

          9                 Mr. Diamond, if you will begin,

         10  please.

         11                 MR. DIAMOND: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         12                 Good morning, Mr. Chairman, and

         13  members of the Committee.

         14                 My name is Stewart Diamond, and I am

         15  the Legislative Counsel for Council Member Howard

         16  Lasher of the 47th District in the Gravesend,

         17  Bensonhurst section of Brooklyn.

         18                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         19  testify this morning, in support of Intro. 691, of

         20  which Council Member Lasher is one of the prime

         21  sponsors.

         22                 Intro. 691 calls for the co-naming of

         23  Bay 41st Street in Brooklyn, from Leif Ericson

         24  Drive, Shore Parkway, southwesterly to the United

         25  States bulkhead line, as Eugene R. Romano Lane.
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          2                 It is an honor for Council Member

          3  Lasher to introduce this street co-naming

          4  legislation, which pays tribute to Gene R. Romano,

          5  the founder and long-time owner of the highly

          6  successful and enormously popular Nellie Bly

          7  Amusement Park in Bensonhurst, Brooklyn.

          8                 Mr. Romano's generosity to children

          9  and people who were down on their luck by providing

         10  countless free rides and jobs at his amusement park

         11  is legendary in the community.

         12                 Moreover, Eugene Romano was a

         13  humanitarian, devoted his life to the improvement to

         14  the quality of life in his neighborhood by

         15  participation in countless civic activities.

         16                 He was a business leader whose

         17  involvement in the Lion's Club, the Gowanus Club,

         18  and the Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce and the

         19  Community of Mayors were just some of his noteworthy

         20  contributions that greatly benefitted Bensonhurst

         21  and the surrounding areas.

         22                 Others who are here today will

         23  testify to the many other contributions that Mr.

         24  Romano made to his community. I would just like to

         25  say again on behalf of Council Member Lasher, I
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          2  respectfully urge this Committee's favorable action

          3  on Intro. 691 and I thank you for your time.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Diamond. Please give our best to the Council member.

          6                 MR. DIAMOND: I shall.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right,

          8  identify yourself by name, for the record, please,

          9  and begin your testimony.

         10                 MS. CINO: Good morning. My name is

         11  Mary Anne Cino. I am addressing you today as the

         12  Chairperson of the Parks and Libraries Committee of

         13  Community Board 11 in Brooklyn.

         14                 I would like to begin by thanking

         15  Councilman Lasher and Speaker Vallone for bringing

         16  forth Intro. 691.

         17                 Councilman Foster and members of the

         18  Committee, on October 14th, 1999, Community Board 11

         19  unanimously adopted a resolution, recommending that

         20  Bay 41st Street from Leif Ericson Drive to Shore

         21  Parkway, southwesterly to the U.S. Bulkhead line to

         22  be co-named Eugene R. Romano Lane to memorialize

         23  this well-respected member of Bensonhurst.

         24                 Eugene Romano was a Bensonhurst

         25  resident for most of his life. In the mid-1960s he
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          2  and his brothers opened a small lunch stand and a

          3  few children's rides along Shore Parkway, not very

          4  far from the Coney Island amusement area. Several

          5  years later when Nellie Bly Amusement Park was

          6  opened on Shore Parkway and Bay 41st Street, it very

          7  quickly became a popular tourist attraction in the

          8  Bensonhurst community.

          9                 The warmth and enthusiasm generated

         10  by its founder Gene Romano, created a wonderful

         11  atmosphere where children and their families always

         12  felt special and welcomed.

         13                 Mr. Romano, formerly an accomplished

         14  real estate broker and president of both the Bay

         15  Ridge and Brooklyn Boards of Realtors, received much

         16  recognition throughout our Brooklyn communities.

         17                 Gene Romano and Nellie Bly became

         18  synonymous with Bensonhurst, and the Romano family

         19  became well known for their kindness and compassion.

         20                 Led by Gene, there wasn't an event or

         21  a charitable occasion the Romano family did not

         22  participate in. He never said no to a good cause.

         23  The park was used on enumerable occasions each year

         24  for the benefit of underprivileged children and to

         25  raise funds for various charities.
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          2                 This essentially small family

          3  business touched the lives of thousands of

          4  youngsters and adults throughout our communities,

          5  and served to make our City a better place.

          6                 On October 6th, 1999, Gene Romano

          7  passed away as a result of a long illness. The

          8  residents of Bensonhurst will never forget him.

          9                 This very generous and gracious man,

         10  who was always concerned with others, was

         11  exceptional in his efforts to bring joy and goodwill

         12  to our world. It would be an honor for us to co-name

         13  the street in his memory at the sight of his beloved

         14  amusement park.

         15                 Thank you for your time and

         16  attention.

         17                 MS. ROMANO: Good afternoon, Chairman

         18  Foster. Good afternoon, City Council members and our

         19  dear friends who have come to help testify on behalf

         20  of our family today.

         21                 My name is Gena Romano. I am

         22  currently the president of Nellie Bly Park, and

         23  Eugene Romano was my father.

         24                 I would also like to thank Councilman

         25  Lasher and Speaker Vallone for introducing this
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          2  bill.

          3                 My father was very conscious of two

          4  things when it came to Nellie Bly: That we were a

          5  part of the community, and as tenants of the City we

          6  really did belong to the Committee, he knew this on

          7  a business level, but more importantly is that he

          8  knew this from his soul.

          9                 He loved helping everyone he could.

         10                 My dad began a long tradition which

         11  continues today in making the park available to

         12  every child and family, whatever their need.

         13                 Many of you know or can see the

         14  partial list of groups we have helped or entertained

         15  for no cost, but I can't begin to write down every

         16  special need person or group that comes through our

         17  gates that we always entertain for free and

         18  accommodate, the countless schools and community

         19  groups that we help and have helped with

         20  fundraisers.

         21                 My father also believed in taking

         22  Nellie Bly into communities all over the five

         23  boroughs, by participating in parades, sending in

         24  clowns, face painters, magicians, costume characters

         25  and these were to hundreds and hundreds of community
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          2  events over the years. My father never said no. And

          3  it was often at the hardship to himself and to our

          4  family. We often would work til 12:00 or 1:00 in the

          5  morning, and still do, and wake up at 7:00 to be at

          6  the park to get ready for a parade. And we do it

          7  with glee, but it's not always easy.

          8                 I used to have to remind my father

          9  that we were not a not-for-profit organization. But

         10  his was truly a labor of love. That love was for

         11  children and families he saw enjoying the park, and

         12  it is completely appropriate that Bay 41st Street at

         13  Shore Parkway be named Eugene R. Romano Lane.

         14                 My father's greatest love was for

         15  Brooklyn and the community and for New York. On

         16  behalf of my family and our staff in the park, I

         17  thank you for this opportunity.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I thank you for

         19  coming. I'm grateful that you can speak so well of

         20  your father. It's refreshing, isn't it? Because

         21  now-a-days you hear so many young people talking

         22  about what their parents did not do right and et

         23  cetera, and, so, it's a breath of fresh air to hear

         24  a daughter speak well of her father. God bless you.

         25                 MS. ROMANO: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Sir, would you

          3  identify yourself for the record.

          4                 DR. TROISI: Chairman, Honorable City

          5  Council Members, my name is Dr. Joseph Troisi, and

          6  this is Florence Ghristino. We're here representing

          7  the community mayors of New York City.

          8                 I, as a Deputy Chief Mayor, and Mrs.

          9  Ghristino as a secretary treasurer.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Would you bring

         11  the mic a little closer to you, Doctor, if you don't

         12  mind.

         13                 DR. TROISI: We run many outtings for

         14  mentally and physically challenged of New York City.

         15                 One of our premiere outtings is at

         16  the Nellie Bly Amusement Park in Brooklyn. Eugene R.

         17  Romano was one of our members, and he donated his

         18  park every year for over 20 years. We entertain

         19  2,000 children there every year. Eugene Romano also

         20  donated the personnel necessary to run the various

         21  rides. Every year he also donated the engine and

         22  caboose with the necessary personnel that we used at

         23  Kennedy Airport at our annual operation Santa Klaus

         24  for about 4,500 children.

         25                 Eugene Romano did these things
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          2  without hesitation or question. He enjoyed seeing

          3  these mentally and physically challenged children

          4  enjoying themselves.

          5                 He also gave of his expertise and

          6  financial support to many of our other affairs. It

          7  is only proper that such a fine gentleman be

          8  recognized for his enthusiastic and unselfish

          9  support of an organization such as community mayors.

         10                 Therefore, I urge you to honor the

         11  memory of Eugene Romano by granting this request to

         12  name Bay 41st Street as Eugene R. Romano Lane.

         13                 Thank you very much for your

         14  attention, and I sincerely hope that you act

         15  favorably on this matter.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

         17  Doctor.

         18                 Now, there are others to testify, who

         19  are they?

         20                 Those who are here in favor of this,

         21  if you don't want to testify, I would like you to at

         22  least go to the microphone and identify yourself and

         23  say that you are in favor. I'd like for it to be on

         24  the record that you are here and you are in favor.

         25                 MR. EPSTEIN: Good morning --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Good morning.

          3                 MR. EPSTEIN: -- Mr. Chairman, members

          4  of the Committee, my name is Stanley Epstein, an

          5  attorney at law, and I was formerly with the City of

          6  New York for 17 and a half years, as Assistant

          7  Corporation Counsel, Deputy Counsel for the

          8  Department of Highways and Transportation, Counsel

          9  to Economic Development and Administration, and

         10  thereafter left to become a assistant superintendent

         11  and insurance for the State of New York.

         12                 I'm testifying for and on behalf of

         13  the naming and adopting of the street for Eugene R.

         14  Romano, and the reason being is that I knew the man

         15  for approximately 30 years, as a friend, as a member

         16  of the Lion's Club, which incidently he and now his

         17  family establishes, they set up a meeting once a

         18  year in the park for the Lion's Club to participate.

         19  I know strongly about the man in that I roomed with

         20  him when we used to go away on golf outtings and I

         21  knew his dedication to charity, his honesty, his

         22  integrity and that he favored everyone, of all

         23  religions and sex, and for that reason I

         24  respectfully request that the members adopt his

         25  name.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 Who is next to testify? I'm sorry,

          6  excuse me. I was looking for you over there, but you

          7  are over here.

          8                 MR. MURRISH: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          9  Thank you very much to the members of the Committee,

         10  and my dear friend Councilman Marty Golden.

         11                 My name is Larry Marsh, I serve as

         12  the Civilian Liaison for the Senior Enlisted

         13  Non-commissioned Officers Military Council of New

         14  York City. They happen to be the five services of

         15  the active duty armed forces who are stationed in

         16  the New York City area.

         17                 I also had the pleasure of being

         18  friends with Mr. Romano and his family for over 30

         19  years. All of our families always, and still do, go

         20  to Nellie Bly.

         21                 The armed forces serving in our city

         22  have a very difficult time. Many of them are afraid

         23  of the city, many of them are on food stamps. It's

         24  always a difficult adjustment for them when they

         25  arrive in this City.
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          2                 Part of the solution to that

          3  situation took place 13 years ago when Gene Romano

          4  saw them in the parade and said we should do

          5  something special for them. With that in mind, once

          6  a year he closed the park and made it military

          7  family day. The US Coast Guard from Governor's

          8  Island, the US Marines from Garden City, the Ft.

          9  Hamilton Army Garrison, the Ft. Dicks Garrison,

         10  McGuire Airforce Base and the Naval Homeport Forces

         11  sent between 1,000 and 3,500 children free of charge

         12  with their families once a year.

         13                 In addition to that, the adjustment

         14  also included the large Navy base at Staten Island

         15  when the fleet was in, and Gene and Gena would send

         16  clowns, rides and everything to welcome them on site

         17  at the Navy base as well.

         18                 Ft. Hamilton Army Base has also

         19  hosted orphanage parties for 1,500 orphans each

         20  year, without hesitation, Nellie Bly was with them.

         21                 You could imagine what a credit this

         22  great American has done for all of us, for Nellie

         23  Bly is not just respected in this City, Nellie Bly

         24  is respected all over the world, and I hear this

         25  from many military who I stay in touch with, how is
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          2  Nellie Bly and when is it this year?

          3                 Well, it happens to be September

          4  15th, and we shall be there, and if you want to join

          5  us, you will see 2,500 military kids again. The

          6  spirit of Gene Romano will always continue through

          7  Gena, Antoinette and my buddy Andrew.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you for

         10  your testimony.

         11                 Is there anyone else to testify on

         12  this issue?

         13                 Let me say, before I call on

         14  Councilman Fisher, that Ms. Romano you must be -- I

         15  can see your pride in your father. You know, I was

         16  taught years ago, the more you give, the more you

         17  get. And that's true. We have a saying in our church

         18  "You can't beat God given," and we honor God in

         19  many ways and one of the ways is reaching out to

         20  people who are less fortunate than ourselves, and

         21  especially children.

         22                 So, I thank you for coming, and I

         23  thank Council Member Lasher for bringing this before

         24  us. There are so many good things in this City that

         25  are happening that we just forget.
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          2                 Council Member Fisher.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chairman.

          5                 And I want to publicly thank you and

          6  the other members of the Committee for taking this

          7  matter up at this time. Normally in the summer

          8  things are quiet at City Hall, but there was so much

          9  positive feeling for this name change, and the

         10  others that we're doing today, that I wanted to

         11  express my appreciation to you.

         12                 I had the privilege of knowing Gene

         13  Romano, and I have to tell you, if he was here, I

         14  sort of sense his presence, he'd be saying, ah,

         15  c'mon, what are ya doing? And on the other hand he'd

         16  be laughing his head off that people had the

         17  opportunity to enjoy the enjoyment that he was able

         18  to create for so many thousands of families from

         19  Brooklyn and elsewhere.

         20                 Mr. Chairman, I can tell you, Nellie

         21  Bly is a place that I took my kids. You know, not

         22  everybody has got the money to go to Disney World,

         23  let alone the Hamptons, and there are an awful lot

         24  of families in Brooklyn that consider Nellie Bly to

         25  be their backyard.
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          2                 And not only that, Mr. Chairman, and

          3  it was alluded to before, it's a place where color

          4  knows no bounds, economic status knows no bounds.

          5  I've been out there to see all the countries of the

          6  world, because that's what Brooklyn is today. All

          7  the countries in the world, all the religions of the

          8  world, and when they're out at Nellie Bly they only

          9  have one thing on their mind and that's having fun.

         10                 And one last comment that I want to

         11  make about Gena and the rest of the family, which is

         12  that every single person who walks through that gate

         13  is being welcomed into their backyard. They treat

         14  everybody as if they were a family guest who's come

         15  over to spend some time with the Romano family, and

         16  I just hope that part of what comes out of this is

         17  not just recognition for a life well lived, but

         18  maybe one of those young people look up, see the

         19  sign, say who is that guy? Why has the City of New

         20  York honored him in that way and be inspired to be

         21  like Eugene Romano?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

         23  Council Member Fisher.

         24                 Before I recognize Council Member

         25  Golden, we have been joined by, up in the balcony,
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          2  by a group called International Academic Exchange

          3  Program from the Netherlands and from the United

          4  Kingdom.

          5                 Since my wife's grandfather was a

          6  proud citizen of the Netherlands, she was a member,

          7  a citizen of the United Kingdom, and if I don't

          8  recognize you I will not be able to go home,

          9  especially since the house is in her name. So, we

         10  welcome you here this morning. You are in the City

         11  Council Chamber here, you will see beautiful

         12  writings on the ceiling. This is one of the oldest

         13  buildings, if not the oldest in the country. The

         14  Sergeant will tell you all about it, but we are in

         15  the midst of a Park hearing, Parks Committee

         16  hearing, where we rename streets and parks in memory

         17  of outstanding American citizens.

         18                 We have talked this morning about, we

         19  are speaking right now about Mr. Romano, a man who

         20  organized an amusement park and gave so much to do

         21  many people, particularly young people to enjoy

         22  themselves.

         23                 We also heard testimony about a man

         24  who helped to start our public library system, and

         25  we will have further testimony. Here I am joined, as
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          2  the Chair of this Committee, by Council Member

          3  Golden, from Brooklyn, and Council Member Fisher

          4  from Brooklyn, and Council Member Provenzano from

          5  the Bronx, and with our staff people, our attorney,

          6  Mr. Ira Pers, and Mr. Frank Newt, and the young man

          7  standing over there is waiting for us to vote so he

          8  can go back down stairs and finish his coffee.

          9                 Thank you for being with us, and

         10  enjoy yourselves. And yell out - how long will you

         11  be in this country?

         12                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Ten days.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Ten days? Enjoy

         14  yourselves. God bless.

         15                 Thank you for coming.

         16                 All right, Council Member Golden.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you,

         18  sir.

         19                 Before Ken runs out the door,

         20  hopefully some day when we get a new borough

         21  president, we can have a Gene Romano Day in

         22  Brooklyn, and I think that would be an outstanding

         23  thing for Gene Romano, which would be --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Is that a

         25  recommendation you are making to Mr. Fisher --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I was making a

          3  recommendation to the family, that we have a crew --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay, thank you

          5  very much. I know Ken would like that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: All these

          7  people here are very, very, very humble people. And

          8  Mr. Chairman, if I may, you have Mr. Ghristino here

          9  and Dr. Troisi. They went on to tell you how to get

         10  involved with the handicapped, the physically and

         11  mentally challenged. They didn't tell you how many

         12  numbers. It's over 10,000, it's 10,000 every year

         13  you deal with? It's more than that? It's more than

         14  that, 20? What's the number?

         15                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Twenty-five to

         16  30,000.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Twenty-five to

         18  30,000 kids the community mayors take out every year

         19  to all different gatherings around the City so that

         20  those kids get an opportunity to get out and to

         21  enjoy themselves. Of course you didn't hear about

         22  that. And you've got Mary Anne Cino here who is also

         23  from the community board who you didn't hear about

         24  how she's involved with after school programs and

         25  deals with thousands of kids with the neighborhood
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          2  improvement association. And you didn't hear about

          3  Larry Murrish, who deals with, not only with the

          4  military, but with the Ragamuffin and different

          5  organizations that brings out tens of thousands of

          6  kids every year so that they can enjoy themselves.

          7  And back there I see, who will be speaking very

          8  shortly on another bill that's coming up, is Bill

          9  Girasole, the president of the 13th Avenue

         10  Merchants, who also brings out hundreds and

         11  thousands of kids and people out to their avenue

         12  each year, and it all has one common thread, and the

         13  common thread is Gene Romano is part of every one of

         14  those organizations, and every one of those outtings

         15  so that those kids can enjoy a day in this great

         16  city, and that's the tribute that we can give to

         17  Gene Romano.

         18                 And you know, his gene pool was very

         19  good, because his daughter is very much like the

         20  father, and has carried on that tradition over the

         21  years. And I have to admit that he is probably one

         22  of the greatest men that I have ever met in my life,

         23  and you are one of the greatest ladies that I've

         24  ever met.

         25                 Thank you, and keep up your great
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          2  efforts at Nellie Bly Park.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

          4  Council Member.

          5                 I have a page of organizations here

          6  and I'm sure this is not all of them they have

          7  helped and assisted and enjoyed themselves and just

          8  given a good time for those in need. Make a Wish

          9  Foundation is involved and many more.

         10                 Thank you very much. Ms. Romano,

         11  thank you. Thank God for sending your Dad here. It

         12  shows that God was not on a lunchbreak, nor even a

         13  coffee break, God bless you. Thank you for coming.

         14                 All right, we have one more and then

         15  we shall vote.

         16                 Intro. 912, by Council Member Golden,

         17  and Council Member Fisher, O'Donovan, and Abel, in

         18  relation to a street name, Dyker Heights.

         19                 Council Member Golden, would you give

         20  us some information on this Intro? In the meantime,

         21  Mr. Murrish, am I saying that correctly? Come again,

         22  please.

         23                 Is that Girasole.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Girasole.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. Close
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          2  enough.

          3                 Patrick Condren. Angela Ryan, is that

          4  right?

          5                 MS. RYAN: Ryan.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. I got

          7  one right. Thank you, Ms. Ryan, for coming.

          8                 Antonio Limone. Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Mr. Chairman,

         10  I'd like to introduce this bill and introduce the

         11  residents and business people of the community to

         12  you.

         13                 For some time the merchants

         14  organization and the residents have asked for such a

         15  renaming and I am pleased that Chairman Wendell

         16  Foster and the City Council Committee on Parks and

         17  recreation had given my legislation consideration at

         18  this time.

         19                 Merchants vital to the community,

         20  many different stores, have maintained a friendly

         21  shopping district that is well used by many of the

         22  residents in Dyker Heights area. The avenue is home

         23  to pork stores, butchers, post office, diners, St.

         24  Bernadette's Church, the very vibrant and strong

         25  Knights of Columbus, Dyker Heights, I guess the golf
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          2  course is on one side of it, has a well organized

          3  and effective merchant organizations with who have

          4  worked to maintain a clean avenue and host

          5  festivals, Halloween window painting contest, Easter

          6  window painting contest and decorates the avenues in

          7  an effort to get the community in holiday spirit

          8  with the holiday street lights and wreaths.

          9                 It is a community avenue servicing

         10  the residents at Dyker Heights, and an area where

         11  the residents can go together to shop, to dine, to

         12  spend time with their family and to enjoy the

         13  community that they live in, truly a central

         14  thoroughfare in my Council district.

         15                 In the 1600's the Dutch landed in

         16  this area and they've opened up, some of the oldest

         17  churches and cemeteries in the entire city are

         18  located in the Dyker Heights, New Uttrecht and

         19  Bensonhurst areas, with the New Uttrecht Reform

         20  Church dating back to before 1600's. It's amazing

         21  that these different historic institutions are still

         22  alive and still maintained by the community. And

         23  13th Avenue is a, I guess the central point of Dyker

         24  Heights and naming that Dyker Heights Boulevard and

         25  giving it as its own identity, its own niche and
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          2  allowing the other avenues, from Fort Hamilton

          3  Parkway through 14th Avenue, to be part of Dyker

          4  Heights Village would truly continue to keep up the

          5  traditions that the Dutch had created when they came

          6  here in 1600, but most of all to be able to create

          7  its own identity as a community that has strived

          8  over the years and has been so successful with its

          9  residents, its schools, its stores and with the

         10  great people that come from it as we just met

         11  earlier, the Romano family and many others that have

         12  come through that community.

         13                 I introduce to you this bill, and

         14  pray that you will be successful in voting this bill

         15  favorably.

         16                 Thank you, sir.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

         18  Council Member Golden.

         19                 May I, before hearing your testimony,

         20  so that we won't lose some of our members, this is a

         21  summer recess period, we are going to take the vote,

         22  and then we are going to keep the vote open because

         23  other members will vote later.

         24                 I think they will follow our lead,

         25  and even without hearing your testimony, I'm pretty
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          2  sure, because of the response to Mr. Golden, and

          3  because we may want to go to his place in Brooklyn

          4  for a meal on the house, you know, it's term limits,

          5  we've got to get what we can while we can and where

          6  we can.

          7                 Would you call for the vote, please.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Fisher.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Aye on all.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Foster.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Aye on all, and

         12  please add my name.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Provenzano.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Yes on

         15  all.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Golden.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Aye on all,

         18  and also, make sure my name is on all bills.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: The vote stands

         21  at four in the affirmative, none in the negative and

         22  no abstentions, and it's still open.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you all for

         24  coming. We are going to keep the vote open for our

         25  members who will be here next week. Thank you.
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          2                 Now you may begin your testimony,

          3  please.

          4                 Thank you, Andrew. Thank you, Mr.

          5  Eristoff. Thank you, Mr. Bigelow.

          6                 Excuse me, just one minute. Who are

          7  you? Would you do me a favor? Come here a minute,

          8  please.

          9                 What's your name, and tell us if you

         10  are in favor of the bill.

         11                 MS. DUBLER: My name is Diane Dubler,

         12  and I'm very in favor of the bill. Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, again,

         14  for coming.

         15                 God bless you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Andrew, have a

         17  good summer.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right. Now

         19  would you begin your testimony?

         20                 MR. CONDREN: Good morning, Chairman,

         21  members of the Council, I thank you for having us

         22  here today. My name is Patrick Condren, I'm the

         23  Executive Director of the Bay Ridge and Bensonhurst

         24  Preservation Alliance, which is a coalition of

         25  merchants organizations and other economically
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          2  development-oriented groups and associations in Bay

          3  Ridge, Dyker Heights and Bensonhurst, that work on

          4  general economic programs.

          5                 We're here to identify today and

          6  thank the sponsorship of Councilman Golden's

          7  identification of 13th Avenue and to explain that

          8  the ten member merchants organizations at Third

          9  Avenue, Fifth Avenue and Fort Hamilton Parkway, 11th

         10  Avenue, 18th Avenue, New Uttrecht Avenue and 86th

         11  Street are in favor of this bill for the purposes of

         12  identifying clearly the truly centralized location

         13  of a boulevard right there on 13th Avenue in the

         14  Central Business District.

         15                 There's over 3,200 businesses in

         16  western Brooklyn, and the focus of our group is the

         17  retention and development of local business in that

         18  area, of which 13th Avenue, soon to be named Dyker

         19  Heights Boulevard, will be more of a centrally

         20  located identifying themed, strong supporting

         21  location for economic development and good quality

         22  of life programs in our area.

         23                 Most recently in the last six years

         24  there has been trees, benches, banners and more

         25  plans to put up a big stanch in welcoming people to
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          2  Dyker Heights Boulevard, and identifying this

          3  location as Dyker Heights.

          4                 It's one of the garden spots of the

          5  universe and showplaces of the nation and we invite

          6  you all to come.

          7                 I'm here to identify once again that

          8  the ten member groups, which represent over 3,200

          9  businesses, strongly support this as sponsored by

         10  Councilman Golden, and we thank you for the time.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 Next person.

         14                 MR. GIRASOLE: Mr. Chairman, members

         15  of the Council, Marty Golden, I am Bill Girasole,

         16  President of the 13th Avenue Merchants Association.

         17                 As Pat Condren has said, we are a

         18  small avenue, comprises about 225 businesses. We

         19  fall under the realm of mom and pop-type stores, and

         20  as a sidebar, I did not know the renaming of the

         21  street Eugene Romano was up today. I knew Gene over

         22  30 years, and when we on 13th Avenue with our

         23  merchants association hold a Christmas party every

         24  year for the children of all our neighborhoods,

         25  surrounding neighborhoods, Eugene Romano donates
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          2  that same choo choo train that runs up and down our

          3  avenue and its ironic that we're here today with

          4  Gene.

          5                 What we're trying to do on 13th

          6  Avenue is, as you know, today's small business faces

          7  an awful lot of competition, not only from malls but

          8  from big stores, and we have been there, 13th Avenue

          9  has been there really since the turn of the century,

         10  and the flavor of 13th Avenue hasn't changed, as I

         11  said still small businesses, but we are in

         12  competition, as I mentioned, with other factors.

         13                 By renaming the 13th Avenue, or also

         14  known as 13th Avenue Boulevard, what we're

         15  attempting to do is create an atmosphere on 13th

         16  Avenue that becomes more customer friendly,

         17  neighborhood friendly, community friendly. We do

         18  hold festivals, we do hold Christmas parties for our

         19  children, Halloween parties for the kids, but we

         20  realize that we are struggling and that we need to

         21  revitalize the avenue and keep it vibrant, not only

         22  for the merchants on 13th Avenue but for the

         23  residents in the area.

         24                 And Mr. Chairman, we do have some

         25  very fine restaurants around 13th Avenue, one
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          2  happens to be called Romano's Restaurant, so if

          3  you're ever in the neighborhood, sir --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: What's that name

          5  again?

          6                 MR. GIRASOLE: Romano's Restaurant. No

          7  relation to Gene Romano.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I see.

          9                 MR. GIRASOLE: But since we discussed

         10  Gene today, we do have a Romano's Restaurant on 13th

         11  Avenue. I know you will not forget that name and

         12  you're always welcome.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 MR. GIRASOLE: And I do want to thank

         16  the Council for the time. I especially want to thank

         17  Councilman Golden, who has been throughout the years

         18  a tremendous friend, not only to the 13th Avenue

         19  Merchants Association, but to the Bay Ridge

         20  Bensonhurst Alliance and I thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 Mr. Murrish.

         24                 MR. MURRISH: Mr. Chairman, let me say

         25  as a New Yorker I am very dismayed that term limits
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          2  takes a public servant of your caliber out of the

          3  loop.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Would you mind

          5  repeating that again, a little louder and a little

          6  slower.

          7                 MR. MURRISH: You're an outstanding

          8  gentleman and a fine public servant, and my very

          9  dear colleague Congressman Fossella said do whatever

         10  Mr. Foster says. So, he's totally correct and then

         11  some. So, bless you. And I'll meet you at Romano's

         12  Restaurant.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: You can see that

         14  I'm practicing the same nepotism that John Adams

         15  practiced with his son John Quincy Adams.

         16                 MR. MURRISH: That's all right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And the Gores and

         18  the Bushes practiced by letting my daughter take my

         19  seat.

         20                 MR. MURRISH:  And I'm sure she's

         21  going to be as effective as you and with you as a

         22  Councilary, your community will be properly

         23  represented.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 MR. MURRISH: I just want to comment

          4  that all of us have put a great deal of effort,

          5  particularly in the past ten years, in bringing 13th

          6  Avenue together, and we all say we really don't need

          7  the Hamptons because 13th Avenue is the Hamptons.

          8                 All the little folks got together

          9  after we formed the BayRidge Bensonhurst

         10  Preservation Alliance. We gave everybody an

         11  incentive to do something about it.

         12                 The unique part about this particular

         13  group is Dyker Heights Civic Association, the

         14  residence that's been in effect since 1929 works

         15  hand-in-hand with them to make it a better place for

         16  everybody.

         17                 On a personal note, I would like to

         18  say that Dyker Heights, as a personal note, would

         19  not have reached its peak if it wasn't for another

         20  great American Aldo Gerisol, the hero of Elimane

         21  (phonetic), this fellow is still alive, a genuine

         22  American leader and statesman, who, for 50 years,

         23  has made Dyker Heights what it is.

         24                 So, without question, I know you

         25  already passed it, but once again, thank you very
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          2  much, Mr. Foster, you're a great American, as well.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 Thank you, all.

          6                 All right, Ms. Ryan.

          7                 Are you testifying, sir? Are you

          8  going to testify?

          9                 MR. LIMONE: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right, thank

         11  you.

         12                 Here is the chair, right over here.

         13                 Ms. Ryan, thank you for adding beauty

         14  and class to this hearing.

         15                 MS. RYAN: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And especially to

         17  this delegation.

         18                 MS. RYAN: Thank you very much.

         19                 Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Marty

         20  Golden, members of the Committee. My name is Angela

         21  Ryan, and I am an officer in the 13th Avenue Board

         22  of Trade, and I am in favor, and I thank you for

         23  your consideration. And I think these gentlemen have

         24  said it all. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 Sir.

          4                 MR. LIMONE: Good morning, Mr.

          5  Chairman, and City Council. My name is Antonio

          6  Limone.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: A little louder,

          8  please. Or a little closer to the mic.

          9                 MR. LIMONE: My name is Antonio

         10  Limone. I'm a member of 13th Avenue Merchants

         11  Association, and I also have a business at 13th

         12  Avenue.

         13                 We like to thank you for giving it to

         14  us, and like the letter says, that everything will

         15  be known.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you all for

         17  coming.

         18                 MR. LIMONE: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: We've already

         20  voted in favor, and I'm sure that when our other

         21  members are here they will join us in agreeing in

         22  voting with us, and then it shall be taking up at

         23  our next Stated Council Meeting.

         24                 Thank you very much for coming.

         25                 Thank you, Council Member Golden.
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          2                 MS. RYAN: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Ms.

          4  Ryan, for adding class to the hearing.

          5                 Thank you, gentlemen.

          6                 My counsel said I've talked enough.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 11:15 a.m.)
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          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the
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